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INTRODUCTION 

 In these lawsuits, Plaintiffs claim that Chiquita should be held liable under the 

Antiterrorism Act (“ATA”), 18 U.S.C. § 2333(a), for the kidnapping and murder in the 1990s of 

six Americans by the Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia—the “Armed 

Revolutionary Forces of Colombia”—better known as the FARC.  It is undisputed that the only 

connection of any kind between Chiquita and the FARC’s murder of these Americans is that 

Chiquita’s former Colombian subsidiary (“Banadex”) paid money to the FARC in response to 

threats of violence.  It is likewise undisputed that Banadex was one of thousands of businesses 

and individuals throughout Colombia during this period that paid such extortion to the 

FARC―an act so common there was a Colombian term coined for it, the so-called vacuna or 

“vaccine” against the FARC’s violence.  (Def.’s Statement of Material Facts (“SOMF”) ¶ 11.) 

In earlier versions of their complaints, Plaintiffs alleged that Chiquita’s connection to the 

FARC was much more sinister than paying the vacuna.  Those pleadings alleged that Chiquita 

was a willing collaborator with this Communist revolutionary organization, providing it with 

weapons and ammunition, using the FARC to gain a “competitive advantage,” and assisting the 

FARC in creating dummy fundraising organizations.  (E.g., Am. Compl. ¶¶ 1, 191-93, 195-96, 

198-99, 202 (D.E. 74); Consolidated Am. Compl. ¶¶ 1, 76, 80-82 (D.E. 447).)1  Repeatedly 

citing these allegations, and emphasizing its duty to accept the truth of the allegations at the 

pleading stage, this Court refused to grant Chiquita’s motions to dismiss.  (Order & Op. 25-30 

(D.E. 278); Order & Op. 9-11 (D.E. 517); Order & Op. on Reconsideration 13-14 (D.E. 692).) 

 But now, with discovery complete, Plaintiffs have amended their complaints to withdraw 

all of their allegations that Chiquita colluded with the FARC.  (E.g., D.E. 1169, at 1; compare 

                                                 
1 Docket citations are to the MDL docket (No. 0:08-md-01916), unless otherwise specified. 
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Am. Compl. ¶¶ 190-199 (D.E. 74), with Third Am. Compl. ¶¶ 190-196 (D.E. 1273).)  Whether 

Plaintiffs ever had a good faith basis to make such false and incendiary allegations is beside the 

point.  What is now clear is that Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment in its favor. 

 Plaintiffs do not even assert a claim that they were injured “by reason of an act of 

international terrorism” committed by Chiquita in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2333(a)―as they 

must for primary liability to attach under the ATA.  Instead, their claims are premised on 

assertions that the FARC committed “international terrorism” and that Chiquita aided and 

abetted or conspired to further those acts.  Plaintiffs’ failure to allege that Chiquita committed an 

“act of international terrorism” is fatal to their ATA claims.  

 The reason Plaintiffs have not alleged that Chiquita committed an “act of international 

terrorism” is obvious:  there is no evidence supporting such an outlandish allegation. 

 In order to establish Chiquita’s liability, Plaintiffs have the burden of proving that 

Chiquita’s conduct objectively “appear[ed] to be intended” to intimidate or coerce a civilian 

population, or to influence government conduct.  Id. § 2331(1)(B).  There is literally no evidence 

on the basis of which a reasonable jury could make such a finding.  In particular, there is (i) no 

evidence that Chiquita did anything for the FARC other than give in to the FARC’s extortive 

demands; (ii) no evidence that Banadex paid the FARC—a violent Marxist guerrilla group 

ideologically opposed to U.S. companies and their presence in Colombia—other than to prevent 

violent retaliation against the company and its employees; and (iii) no evidence that Banadex’s 

payments appeared to be intended to terrorize, any differently than the payments by countless 

others whom Plaintiffs’ own witnesses acknowledge paid the vacuna to the FARC.  The only 

other court to consider the issue has correctly concluded that payments made to the FARC to 
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prevent attacks by that group do not meet the statutory definition of “international terrorism.”  

See Stansell v. BGP, Inc., 2011 WL 1296881, at *9 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 31, 2011).  

Plaintiffs similarly cannot establish that their injuries were “by reason of” any acts 

committed by Chiquita.  This Court previously held that this provision required Plaintiffs to 

establish that Chiquita’s conduct was the proximate cause of their injuries.  But there is no 

evidence on which a reasonable finder of fact could reach such a conclusion.  Among other 

things, there is (i) no evidence that the decedents here had anything to do with Chiquita—they 

were missionaries and a geologist for a petroleum company, completely unknown to Chiquita or 

Banadex, who were kidnapped and killed many miles from Banadex’s farms; (ii) no evidence 

that the FARC fronts that extorted Banadex shared funds with the separate FARC fronts that 

kidnapped and killed the decedents; and (iii) no evidence that the relatively small amounts 

Chiquita paid to the FARC affected in any way the FARC’s ability or motivation to inflict the 

violence that was perpetrated here, especially given that the FARC earned hundreds of millions 

of dollars from drug trafficking and other crimes in the 1990s, so much that it could not even 

spend all that it took in.  In short, there is absolutely no evidence to support that that the tragedies 

that befell these victims was in any way the natural or foreseeable consequence of Banadex’s 

vacuna payments; to hold otherwise would be to read the words “by reason of” out of the statute. 

Finally, Plaintiffs’ claims are time-barred under the ATA’s ten-year statute of limitations.  

See 18 U.S.C. § 2335(a).  In denying Chiquita’s motion to dismiss, this Court found that 

Plaintiffs had adequately alleged fraudulent concealment by Chiquita that would equitably toll 

the statute of limitations.  But equitable tolling requires Plaintiffs to establish both that (i) 

Plaintiffs exercised reasonable diligence in investigating their claims, and (ii) Chiquita engaged 

in fraudulent concealment.  The evidence shows the opposite.  First, Plaintiffs admitted in 
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discovery that they did nothing whatsoever to investigate whether they might have claims against 

companies or individuals who made payments to the FARC, even though they knew that the 

FARC engaged in widespread extortion.  That failure alone precludes equitable tolling.  Second, 

there is no evidence that Chiquita fraudulently concealed the payments.  Plaintiffs point to the 

fact that Banadex identified the FARC by a code name on its local ledgers, but it is undisputed 

that Chiquita’s outside auditors knew of and tracked the payments, and Plaintiffs’ own purported 

accounting expert admits that this use of a code name had no effect on Chiquita’s public 

financial statements.  Moreover, far from concealing the payments, Chiquita disclosed them to 

both the U.S. Department of Justice and the Securities and Exchange Commission in the 1990s.  

(SOMF ¶¶ 83-85.) 

Simply put, nothing connects Chiquita to the kidnappings and murders at issue here.  

Plaintiffs ask the Court to hold that, because Banadex paid the vacuna to the FARC, Chiquita can 

be held liable, and without any right of contribution against the thousands of others in Colombia 

that made similar payments—for any victim of the FARC, regardless of how long ago the person 

was injured and regardless of whether Plaintiffs took any action to investigate their claims during 

the limitations period.  That conclusion is prohibited by the ATA’s command that a defendant 

can be held liable (i) only if it commits an act of international terrorism, and then (ii) only to a 

plaintiff injured by reason of that act, and then (iii) only if that plaintiff files an action within ten 

years of his injury.  Chiquita respectfully requests that the Court enter summary judgment 

dismissing Plaintiffs’ remaining ATA claims. 

BACKGROUND 

 The FARC and Its Violent Activities A.

 Plaintiffs allege that the six decedents were kidnapped and killed by the FARC.  (Third 

Am. Compl. ¶ 1 (D.E. 1273); Second Consolidated Am. Compl. ¶ 1 (D.E. 1287).)  The FARC is 
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a Colombian guerrilla army founded as a Marxist-Leninist insurgency dedicated to overthrowing 

the Colombian government and establishing Communist rule.  (SOMF ¶ 1.)     

 The FARC was heavily armed and notoriously violent; it is estimated to have killed many 

thousands of people in Colombia during the 1990s.  (SOMF ¶ 3.)   

 The FARC derived most of its income from drug trafficking and, to a lesser extent, from 

ransom kidnappings and widespread extortion.  (SOMF ¶ 5.)  Fueled by its involvement in the 

lucrative production and sale of cocaine, which was centered in Colombia, the FARC became 

one of the world’s richest insurgent groups, with income in the 1990s conservatively estimated to 

have exceeded US$100 million annually.  (SOMF ¶ 5.)  The FARC made more money from its 

illegal activities than it could spend or launder, resorting to burying millions of dollars currency 

in hidden caches deep in the Colombian jungle.  (SOMF ¶ 5.)  

Organizationally, the FARC was divided into separate, semi-autonomous fronts, each of 

which operated in a defined geographic location.  (SOMF ¶¶ 8-9.)  FARC fronts were expected 

to be self-sustaining and to carry out their normal operations―including raising funds through 

ransom kidnappings―using their own funds.  (SOMF ¶ 9 (citing, inter alia, Marks Dep.).) 

 While extortion generated relatively less money for the FARC than did drug trafficking, 

by the 1980s extortion was a common feature of life wherever the FARC had a presence in 

Colombia.  (SOMF ¶¶ 10-11.)  As Plaintiffs’ own expert witnesses on the FARC acknowledged, 

the FARC extorted both Colombian and foreign companies and individuals.  (Chalk Dep. 112:25 

-113:1-17 (Ex. 4 to SOMF); Marks Dep. 115:2-120:4 (Ex. 14 to SOMF); see also SOMF ¶ 10.)   

It is undisputed that the consequences of refusing the FARC’s extortion demands were 

grave.  As Plaintiffs’ FARC experts put it, “if demands for extortion were not met, then some of 

the consequences were kidnappings or physical violence against employees.”  (Chalk Dep. 
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113:20-24 (Ex. 4 to SOMF); see also Marks Rpt. 37 (“Citizens who resisted or even simply 

crossed the wrong FARC individuals at the wrong time were killed, often in the most hideous of 

ways.”) (Ex. 5 to SOMF); SOMF n. 11.)  Guerrilla extortion—and knowledge of the violent 

consequences that would result if demands were not met—became so common in Colombia that 

payments in response to such demands became known colloquially as the “vacuna”―literally, 

“vaccine” in Spanish.  (SOMF ¶ 11.) 

 The FARC also engaged in kidnappings for ransom.  (SOMF ¶ 6.)  As Plaintiffs’ own 

experts acknowledge, Colombian nationals were the most frequent targets of FARC ransom 

kidnappings and most hostages were released once a ransom was paid.  (Chalk Dep. 129:15-20 

(Ex. 4 to SOMF); Marks Rep. 27 (“most [kidnapping] victims paid”) (Ex. 5 to SOMF); see also 

SOMF ¶ 7.)  

 The Kidnapping and Death of Plaintiffs’ Relatives B.

1. The Julin Plaintiffs 

The Julin Plaintiffs base their claims on the kidnapping and deaths of five missionaries.  

(See, e.g., Third Am. Compl. ¶¶ 14, 17, 21, 25, 30, 35 (D.E. 1273).)  The five missionaries were 

members of New Tribes Mission (“NTM”), an international, Christian mission organization that 

sends missionaries around the world to evangelize indigenous peoples.  (Id. ¶¶ 11-14; SOMF ¶ 

18.)   

In pursuit of its mission, NTM sent its missionaries to remote and dangerous areas, where 

violence against them was not uncommon.  In 1985, years before the first of the decedents in this 

case were abducted, four NTM missionaries were kidnapped in a remote village in the 

Colombian jungle by a guerrilla group and held for ransom.  (SOMF ¶ 21.)  Three years later, in 

1988, an NTM missionary was abducted in the Panamanian jungle near the Colombian border by 

a group known as the Panamanian Defense Forces.  (SOMF ¶ 21.)  In the years that followed, 
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NTM’s school and residential compound outside Villavicencio, Colombia, was evacuated due to 

the threat of guerrilla violence.  (SOMF ¶ 21.)  NTM was also aware of U.S. State Department 

warnings about the risks posed by the FARC and other insurgent groups in precisely these areas 

of Colombia.  (SOMF ¶¶ 18-19.) 

NTM and its missionaries voluntarily served their ministries despite knowing of these 

potential dangers, based on the biblical tenet that missionaries may “incur[] certain risks in the 

carrying out of . . . [their] ministries” and that “the fact that [a missionary] accepts to serve puts 

[his] life at some hazard.”  (Sier Dep. at 118:25–119:11 (Ex. 22 to SOMF); see also Labutes 

Dep. 72:9-22 (Ex. 83 to SOMF).) 

Between 1986 and 1992, three of the deceased NTM missionaries in this case, Mark 

Rich, Rick Tenenoff, and David Mankins, along with their families (collectively, the “Púcuro 

missionaries”), settled in the remote village of Púcuro, Panama, where they lived among and 

evangelized members of the village’s indigenous Kuna tribe.  (SOMF ¶ 21; Third Am. 

Complaint ¶¶ 50-53 (D.E. 1273).)  Between 1984 and 1989, the two other NTM missionaries, 

Stephen Welsh and Timothy Van Dyke, along with their families, settled in the NTM school and 

residential compound near Villavicencio, in central Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 23; Third Am. 

Complaint ¶¶ 112-17 (D.E. 1273).) 

NTM and its missionaries were aware that payment of the vacuna was common and that 

those who failed to pay the vacuna were often subjected to violent retaliation.  For example, 

daily logs produced by Plaintiffs in discovery regarding the security situation in Colombia refer 

to an individual being taken captive “because the owner of the launch he was working on didn’t 

have enough ‘vacuna’ money to satisfy the g’s [i.e., guerillas]”, and to the FARC and ELN 
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bombing “property of landowners who refused to pay ‘vacuna.’”  (SOMF n. 11 (citing, intre 

alia, CMC Daily Log (JULIN002061) and CMC Daily Log (JULIN003790).) 

On January 31, 1993, armed men entered the Púcuro village and abducted Messrs. Rich, 

Tenenoff, and Mankins.  (SOMF ¶ 21; Julin Pls.’ Admissions 8-12, 30 (Ex. 1 to SOMF).)  Less 

than a year later, on January 13, 1994, Messrs. Welsh and Van Dyke were kidnapped from the 

NTM compound in central Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 23.)  Their kidnappers demanded US$5 million 

and US$3 million in ransom, respectively, for their release.  (SOMF ¶ 25.)  NTM directed all 

aspects of the negotiations with the kidnappers.  (Sier Dep. 92:18-23 (Ex. 22 to SOMF); 

Germann Dep. 100:17-101:1 (Ex. 21 to SOMF ).)  While the FARC’s leadership denied its 

involvement in the Púcuro kidnapping (Germann Dep. 214:12–215:16 (Ex. 21 to SOMF)), NTM 

came to believe that the FARC’s 57th and 53rd Front were responsible for the kidnapping and 

retention of the Púcuro missionaries and Messrs. Welsh and Van Dyke, respectively.  (SOMF ¶ 

27.) 

NTM offered US$10,000 for the release of the Púcuro missionaries and paid US$2,100 to 

the FARC through an intermediary in 1996.  (SOMF ¶¶ 28-29.)  The kidnappers demanded 

more, however, which NTM refused to pay.  (See SOMF ¶ 30.) 

Ultimately, all five missionaries died in captivity.  Messrs. Welsh and Van Dyke were 

killed in June 1995.  (SOMF ¶ 30.)  NTM and their families were notified soon thereafter.  

(SOMF ¶ 31.)  Messrs. Rich, Tenenoff, and Mankins were killed in 1996.  (SOMF ¶ 30.)  

Although their bodies were never recovered, by no later than January 1998, Colombian and U.S. 

government contacts had informed NTM and the men’s relatives that they had died in 1996.  (Id. 

at ¶ 32; see also Germann Dep. 261:22-24 (Ex. 21 to SOMF); Julin Pls.’ Admission No. 23 (Ex. 

1 to SOMF).) 
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2. The Pescatore Plaintiffs 

 The Pescatore Plaintiffs base their claims on the kidnapping and death of Frank 

Pescatore, Jr.  (See, e.g., Second Consolidated Am. Compl. ¶ 1 (D.E. 1287).)  Mr. Pescatore was 

an American geologist who was part owner and vice-president of GeoMet, a company involved 

in coal-bed methane development projects in the United States and overseas.  (SOMF ¶ 33.)  In 

the 1990s, GeoMet got a concession for a coal-bed methane development project in the 

northeastern state of La Guajira, Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 34.) Before arriving in Colombia, GeoMet 

officials, including Mr. Pescatore, knew about the security risks posed by the FARC in 

Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 35.) 

 On or about December 2, 1996, shortly after he arrived in Colombia, Mr. Pescatore was 

en route to the project site when three armed individuals wearing bandanas approached his 

vehicle.  (Briscoe Dep. 22:20-25, 24:13-18, 25:11-14 (Ex. 42 to SOMF).)  The driver turned the 

vehicle around, and the armed individuals shot at it as it drove off.  (Briscoe Dep. 22:20-25, 

24:13-18, 25:11-14 (Ex. 42 to SOMF).)  Mr. Pescatore and those with him made it back safely to 

the hotel.  (Id. at 26:12-14.)  Mr. Pescatore stayed in Colombia after this incident and returned to 

the project site.  

 Eight days later, Mr. Pescatore was kidnapped at GeoMet’s project site in La Guajira, 

Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 27.)  The kidnappers addressed a ransom note to GeoMet demanding 

US$2,500,000 for Mr. Pescatore’s release and “a tax levy” on gas production” when such 

production was “up and running.”  (SOMF ¶ 38.)  A crisis-management firm—Corporate Risk 

International (“CRI”)—that dealt with ransom-kidnapping and extortion incidents was engaged 

to make contact with the kidnappers and start the process of negotiation for Mr. Pescatore’s 

release.  (SOMF ¶ 39.)   
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 The Pescatore Plaintiffs acknowledge that they were willing to pay ransom to the FARC 

in order to secure Mr. Pescatore’s freedom.  (SOMF ¶ 41.)  They “would have paid money,” 

which they “considered [] to be extortion and ransom,” to free Mr. Pescatore, and “considered a 

variety of methods of accumulating funds to pay the FARC . . . .” (Pescatore Admission Nos. 5-

9 (Ex. 2 to SOMF); see also Olivia Pescatore Dep. 221:11-12 (Ex. 41 to SOMF) (“We just 

wanted to pay the ransom.”).)  Before a ransom amount could be negotiated, however, Mr. 

Pescatore tried to escape and was shot and killed by his kidnappers.  (SOMF ¶ 42.)  While CRI 

thought that the kidnappers belonged to a guerrilla group known as the ELN (McWeeney Dep. 

125:18-20, 131:8-10 (Ex. 15 to SOMF)), Mr. Pescatore’s family came to believe that they 

belonged to the FARC.  (SOMF ¶ 44.)  More than a year after Mr. Pescatore’s body was found, a 

letter addressed to GeoMet with the letterhead of the FARC’s 59th front claimed responsibility 

for the killing of Mr. Pescatore.  (SOMF ¶ 44.) 

 Chiquita’s Operations in Colombia C.

Defendant Chiquita is an American company.  (SOMF ¶ 45.)  It is in the business of 

producing and marketing bananas and other fresh produce worldwide.  (Id.)  It has had 

operations in various countries in Latin America and elsewhere, including Colombia.  (Id. ¶ 46.) 

 Chiquita began producing and purchasing bananas in Colombia before the turn of the 

twentieth century.  (Id. ¶ 47.)  The Company’s operations in Colombia were centered in the 

banana-growing regions of Urabá (in the Colombian state of Antioquia) and Magdalena (near 

Santa Marta).  (Id. ¶ 48.)  Over the years, Chiquita built roads, ports, hospitals, and other basic 

infrastructure in the area, and employed thousands of local residents of these remote and 

relatively neglected regions of the country.  (E.g., id. at ¶ 49 & n. 49 (citing sources).)  Chiquita 

or its subsidiaries also provided employment to more than 3,000 people by the mid-to-late 1990s.  

(SOMF ¶ 50). 
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 The FARC’s Extortion of Chiquita’s Operations in Colombia D.

 Chiquita’s Colombian subsidiary Banadex was not immune from the widespread 

extortive demands of the FARC and other guerrilla groups.2  An anti-capitalist organization, the 

FARC was ideologically opposed to multinational companies such as Chiquita operating in 

Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 2; Chalk Dep. 99:7-12 (Ex. 4 to SOMF).)  The basic facts regarding the 

FARC’s demands for money and how Chiquita and Banadex addressed those demands are not 

disputed. 

 The FARC’s Control of the Banana-Growing Regions.  From at least the 1980s through 

at least the late 1990s, certain FARC fronts operated and exercised some degree of control in the 

banana-growing regions of Urabá and Magdalena.  (SOMF ¶ 14.)  The testimony of Colombians 

who resided in the banana-growing regions confirm how the FARC and its extortive demands 

were viewed there at the time.  For example, Humberto Rendón lived and worked in the banana-

growing region of Urabá from his youth in the 1980s.  He testified that, of all the insurgent 

groups with a presence in the area, the FARC was “the scariest” because they “had more power 

and they had more control” of that area.  (Rendón Dep. 5:22-24; 15:14-16:3 (Ex. 16 to SOMF); 

see SOMF ¶ 14.)  In Urabá, according to Mr. Rendón, “it was very common that anyone who 

exported a box of bananas had to pay the vacuna.”  (Rendón Dep. 39:3-25 (Ex. 16 to SOMF); 

see SOMF ¶ 11.)  Giving in to guerrilla demands to pay the vacuna was a “guaranty” of not 

having “property destroyed” and “the physical safety of the employees” endangered.  (Rendón 

Dep. 41:13-17 (Ex. 16 to SOMF); see SOMF ¶ 11.)  Mr. Rendón knew of a banana farmer in 

Urabá who refused to pay the vacuna and was kidnapped as a result.  (Rendón Dep. 38:4-14 (Ex. 

16 to SOMF); see SOMF ¶ 11.)  From his experiences living and working in the banana-growing 

                                                 
2 While Chiquita had various subsidiaries in Colombia from the late 1980s through the late 
1990s, they will all be referred to as Banadex here, for convenience. 
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regions, Mr. Rendón understood that, if a company refused the FARC’s demands, people 

affiliated with the company “would be put at risk for violence by the guerrillas.”  (Rendón Dep. 

40:15-19 (Ex. 16 to SOMF).)  The general perception was therefore that “[i]f they’re not hurting 

you, you’re paying,” and that “all of th[e banana] companies [in the area] paid.”  (Rendón Dep. 

43:7-10; 50:7-20 (Ex. 16 to SOMF).) 

The FARC’s Initial Extortion Demand and Chiquita’s Response.  In 1989, someone 

claiming to be a member of the FARC approached the manager of a Chiquita-owned farm, and 

demanded the equivalent of US$10,000.  (SOMF ¶ 52.)  The farm manager notified Charles 

Keiser, then-General Manager of Chiquita’s Colombian operations, who immediately notified his 

supervisor, John Ordman, Chiquita’s then-regional vice-president with responsibility for 

Colombia.  (Id. ¶¶ 53-54.)  Mr. Ordman understood that “the FARC had threatened that failure to 

meet the demand would result in violence against Chiquita and its employees and properties.”  

(Ordman Dep. 115:2-11 (Ex. 55 SOMF); see SOMF ¶ 55.)  Mr. Ordman believed that, if the 

demand was refused, “employees of Chiquita’s would be murdered.”  (Ordman Dep. 115:2-11 

(Ex. 55 SOMF); see SOMF ¶ 76.)  Mr. Ordman notified his immediate supervisor, Robert 

Kistinger, Chiquita’s then-Executive Vice President of Operations in the Company’s U.S. 

headquarters, about the demand.  (SOMF ¶ 57.)  Mr. Kistinger likewise testified to his good faith 

belief that this was an extortion demand and that, if it was refused, “employees of the subsidiary 

would be killed.”  (Kistinger Dep. 78:11-15, 81:19-2; see SOMF ¶ 58.) 

 Upon learning of the FARC’s demand, Chiquita executives sought the advice of Control 

Risks, a prominent global security and crisis-management firm with extensive experience in 

Colombia, to determine how best to respond.  (SOMF ¶ 61.)  Control Risks confirmed that the 

FARC’s demand posed a significant threat of harm to employees and recommended that 
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Banadex comply with the demand.  (Id. ¶ 62.)  Chiquita also sought legal advice, and its lawyers 

concluded that giving in to the extortion demands of guerrilla groups such as the FARC did not 

violate Colombian or U.S. law.  (Id. ¶ 60, 70.)   

 After these consultations and deliberation among its executives, Chiquita authorized 

Banadex to comply with the FARC’s extortion demand and similar demands that could be made 

in the future, in order to prevent violent retaliation if the demands were refused.  (Id. ¶ 63.)  

Chiquita executives concluded that “these extortion threats were credible, serious, and the only 

alternative was to make those payments.”  (Def.’s 30(b)(6) Dep. 100:5-13  (Ex. 52 SOMF); see 

SOMF ¶¶ 62-63)  Banadex accordingly complied with the FARC’s first demand for the 

equivalent of US$10,000 in 1989.  (SOMF ¶ 64.)  Individuals believed to be members of the 

FARC made additional demands thereafter.  (SOMF ¶ 65.)  Banadex capitulated to those 

demands when it believed that doing so was necessary to prevent violence against employees and 

property.  (SOMF ¶ 66.)  From 1989 to 1996, Banadex made payments in response to the 

FARC’s extortive demands in an amount averaging approximately $32,000 per year.  (SOMF ¶ 

77.)   

 The Chiquita and Banadex employees involved in the decision-making concerning these 

payments testified that they believed making the payments saved lives.  (SOMF ¶ 76.)  The 

FARC appeared to them to have the resources to kill anyone it wanted to kill; the only issue was 

whether the FARC would choose to target Chiquita/Banadex because it refused to accede to the 

vacuna.  (SOMF ¶ 76.) 

 The Violent Acts of the FARC and Other Guerillas When Extortion Demands Were 

Ignored.  Although the FARC was the largest and the strongest, there were a number of guerrilla 

groups operating in Colombia in the 1990s, all rivals of each other and all violent.  (See Marks 
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Rep. 13 (Ex. 5 to SOMF); Chalk Rep. 41:5-25 (Ex. 3 to SOMF); Restrepo Dep. 21:18-22:3 (Ex. 

7 to SOMF); Restrepo Rep. ¶¶ 17-18 (Ex. 6 to SOMF).)  Events on the ground confirmed the 

reality of the threat posed by guerrillas and the government’s inability to provide adequate 

protection against that threat.  (SOMF ¶ 67.)  In 1989, soon after the FARC’s first extortion 

demand, Chiquita learned that a guerrilla group known as the EPL had demanded money from a 

farm owned by a Chiquita subsidiary.  (Id. ¶ 69.)  Chiquita’s subsidiary notified the police―but 

the EPL got wind of this, attempted to kidnap two police officers who tried to ambush the 

guerrillas at a payment drop, and became more belligerent toward the subsidiary as a result.  (Id.)   

 As a result of incidents like this, it was widely understood by residents of the banana-

growing regions that “if you went to report the situation to the authorities, whether it be to the 

police or whether it would be to report it to the army, and whatever guerrilla group it was, it 

would be certain that they would take offense at that, they would take revenge.”  (Martínez Dep. 

at 44:19-45:8 (Ex. 19 in SOMF); see also Rendón Dep. 18:5-13(Ex. 16 in SOMF); see SOMF ¶ 

68.)  Extortion has historically been under-reported in Colombia for this reason.  (SOMF ¶ 13.) 

 The violent consequences of refusing guerrilla demands for money were also made plain 

to Chiquita and Banadex.  In 1994, a guerrilla group demanded payment from Banadex in Urabá.  

Banadex refused, because it believed—mistakenly—that the group lacked a credible presence in 

the area.  (SOMF ¶ 72.)  The group bombed Banadex’s wharf as a result.  (Id.)  When Banadex 

asked Colombian authorities for help after this incident, they responded that they lacked even the 

most basic resources, such as fuel for transportation, that would enable them to shield the 

company from the guerrillas’ threat.  (Id. ¶ 73.)  In or about 1997, individuals believed to be 

affiliated with the FARC demanded money from Banadex’s operation in Magdalena.  (Id. ¶ 72.)  

Banadex refused to comply with this demand, in the mistaken belief that the FARC lacked an 
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effective presence there and did not pose a credible threat.  (Id.)  In response, a farm packing 

station was burned down and two Banadex employees were shot.  (Id.) 

 Guerrillas also demonstrated the brutality they were prepared to visit upon those they 

perceived as their enemies.  In 1995, the FARC intercepted a bus carrying Banadex workers en 

route to one of the company’s farms in Urabá.  (SOMF ¶ 75.)  Unrelated to their status as 

Chiquita employees, workers at that farm were perceived as having sympathies with one of the 

FARC’s rival armed groups in the region.  (Id.)  As a result, the FARC murdered over 20 of 

these employees by the roadside.  (Id.)  For the Chiquita/Banadex managers, this was a searing 

reminder of the FARC’s capability to inflict violence if the vacuna demands were rejected.  (Id. 

¶ 11).    

 The FARC fronts that demanded extortion payments in the banana-growing regions of 

Urabá and of Magdalena were the 5th and 19th fronts, respectively.  (See Chalk Rep. 11 (Ex. 3 to 

SOMF); Martínez Dep. 45:18-21 (Ex. 19 to SOMF).)  There is no evidence in this case that the 

5th and 19th fronts ever transferred any funds to the 53rd, 57th, or 59th fronts of the FARC—the 

fronts suspected of kidnapping Plaintiffs’ relatives for ransom. (SOMF ¶¶ 27, 44.)   

Chiquita’s Internal Monitoring and Disclosure of the Payments.  Due to the grave 

consequences if rival groups learned of the payments, Chiquita implemented a system designed 

to limit knowledge of the payments internally to those who needed to know about them.  (SOMF 

¶ 79.)  Under this system, extortionist armed groups were identified on Banadex’s local books 

according to a coding system.  (Id. ¶ 79.)  There is no evidence that this system was intended to, 

or did, withhold information about the payments from anyone to whom Chiquita had a duty to 

disclose them.   
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First, Chiquita’s internal audit department implemented a policy pursuant to which the 

payments were tracked and documentation of them was delivered to Chiquita’s headquarters in 

Cincinnati.  (Id. ¶ 78; Wilfred White, Accounting for Sensitive Payments Memo (Apr. 19, 1990) 

(CBI-ATA-00049944) (Ex. 69 to SOMF); White SEC Dep. 90. (Ex. 79 to SOMF).)  Second, the 

uncontroverted evidence shows that Chiquita’s auditors knew of the payments.  (SOMF ¶ 81; see 

also Flemmons Rpt.¶¶ 23, 49 (Ex. 74 to SOMF).)  Third, as Plaintiffs’ own purported accounting 

expert admitted at his deposition, (i) the public had no right or ability to inspect Banadex’s local 

books and records (where the coding system was implemented), and (ii) the manner in which 

Banadex recorded the payments on its local books did not affect how the payments were 

classified on Chiquita’s consolidated public financial statements.  (SOMF ¶ 80; see Argiz Dep. 

74:22–75:2, 96:4–9 (Ex. 71 to SOMF).)  In short, while Chiquita was careful not to record the 

payments in a manner that increased the risk of violent retaliation against its employees, there is 

no evidence that the company concealed the payments from or failed to disclose them to anyone.   

In fact, the uncontroverted evidence shows that in the 1990s, Chiquita openly disclosed 

the payments to both the U.S. Department of Justice and the Securities and Exchange 

Commission—neither of whom expressed any objection whatsoever as to the fact of the 

payments or the manner in which they were recorded on Chiquita’s books and records.  (SOMF ¶ 

82-85.) 

In the late 1990s, the SEC conducted an investigation into payments by certain Banadex 

employees to Colombian custom officials.  (SOMF ¶ 82.)  As part of this investigation, the SEC 

and the DOJ were provided with extensive information and documentation regarding the 

extortion payments Chiquita made to guerilla groups in Colombia.  (SOMF ¶ 84.)  Multiple 

Chiquita employees testified about the extortion payments and the manner in which Chiquita 
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accounted for them, even going into detail regarding what policies and procedures Chiquita 

implemented to monitor these payments and how these payments were recorded on Banadex’s 

books and records.  (SOMF ¶ 83.)  For example, on November 23, 1999, Mr. Ordman testified 

before SEC officials that it was “virtually impossible to do business [in Colombia] without 

[ac]ceeding to some degree to these extortion threats” and that the payments had to be made “in 

an extremely discrete sort of way” because “if faction A knows that you are, whether extorted or 

not, that you are in some way collaborating with faction B, the consequences can be life and 

deathlike in nature.”  (Ordman SEC Dep. 42:6-12 (Ex. 76 to SOMF).)  Mr. Ordman also testified 

that Banadex’s security director “for a while was actually preparing, believe it or not, charts. I 

mean, that would show--coded, but they would show X amount over a multi-time period or what 

have you of how much we were giving to the FARC, how much we were giving to the ELN, that 

kind of stuff.”  (Id. 71:20-25.) 

In addition, in 1998, Chiquita’s outside counsel made presentations to the SEC and DOJ 

in which the guerrilla payments were openly discussed.  In response to a question from SEC 

enforcement officials regarding how the payments were recorded, for example, Chiquita’s 

outside counsel noted that “[g]uerilla payments are booked in the operations account, not the 

logistics account, where government payments are logged. . . .  The payments to guerilla and 

anti-guerilla groups involve sensitive issues.  Either group would retaliate against BANADEX 

for supporting the other.”  (SOMF ¶ 84; Presentation on Warehouse Permit Renewal Payments, 

23 (CBI-ATA-00076443) (Ex. 80 to SOMF).)  Despite Chiquita’s full disclosure of the guerilla 

payments and the manner in which they were recorded internally, the SEC took no adverse 

action against Chiquita related to those payments.  (SOMF ¶ 85.) 

Case 0:08-md-01916-KAM   Document 1329   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/03/2017   Page 23 of 47



   
 

18 
 

 Plaintiffs’ Suits Against Chiquita E.

In the years following the deaths of the six decedents, Plaintiffs took no steps to 

investigate who might be responsible for the kidnappings and killings besides the 

FARC.  (SOMF ¶ 87.)  Asked at their depositions whether they had taken steps to research or 

find out who was behind the kidnapping and murder of their relatives, Plaintiffs conceded that 

they had not.  (SOMF ¶ 87 (citing sources).)  Plaintiffs also conceded that they were aware that 

the FARC routinely engaged in extortion, but did not investigate any of the FARC’s funding 

sources.  (SOMF ¶ 87 (citing sources).)  They only commenced their lawsuits after their lawyers 

in this case contacted them and suggested that they sue Chiquita.  (SOMF ¶ 88.) 

 Procedural History F.

 The Julin Action.  On March 11, 2008, the Julin Plaintiffs initiated the first of the three 

ATA Actions at issue in this motion.  (Compl., No. 1:08-cv-20641 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 12, 2008) 

(D.E. 1).)  Their original complaint alleged that the five members of the Rich, Mankins, 

Tenenoff, Welsh, and Van Dyke families were kidnapped by the FARC and died in captivity in 

the early-to-mid 1990s.  (Id. ¶¶ 47-145.)  The complaint asserted ATA and state-law claims 

against Chiquita based on allegations that the Company, inter alia, supported the FARC with 

weapons and monthly payments as high as $100,000, fixed them to a percentage of gross 

revenues, assisted the FARC in subverting labor unions, and received help from the FARC 

through that group’s harassment of Chiquita competitors.  (Id. ¶¶ 189-197, 200.)  In February 

2010, the Court denied Chiquita’s motion to dismiss the Julin Plaintiffs’ ATA claims, relying 

principally on these allegations of collaboration.  (Op. & Order  (D.E. 278).)  The Julin Plaintiffs 

have since dropped the only state-law claims that remained in the case. (See Third Am. Compl. 

(D.E. 1273).)   
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 The Pescatore Actions.  The Pescatore Plaintiffs filed their original complaints in the 

District of Columbia on March 13, 2009 and March 9, 2011, and their suits were transferred soon 

thereafter to this MDL by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation.  (D.E. 225; D.E. 399 

(regarding transfer of Pescatore-Sparrow complaint).)  The Pescatore Plaintiffs allege that the 

FARC kidnapped an American geologist for ransom in December 1996 and killed him by 

February 1997.  (Second Consolidated Am. Compl. ¶¶ 46-56 (D.E. 1287).)  Mirroring the Julin 

complaint, the Pescatore complaint asserted ATA claims against Chiquita based on allegations 

suggesting that the Company voluntarily collaborated with the FARC by providing weapons and 

other support to undermine business competitors.  (Consolidated Am. Compl. ¶¶ 1, 73, 76 (D.E. 

447).)   

In March 2012, the Court denied Chiquita’s motion to dismiss the Pescatore Plaintiffs’ 

claims, again relying principally on the allegations of collaboration.  (Op. & Order 9-10 (D.E. 

517).)  In response to Chiquita’s argument that the complaint included allegations suggesting that 

the FARC extorted the Company, the Court noted that whether “Chiquita was, in fact, extorted 

by the FARC is a question of fact not to be decided in a motion to dismiss.”  (Id. at 10.) 

 The Court’s Reconsideration Ruling.  In July 2013, Chiquita moved for  reconsideration 

of the Court’s orders denying Chiquita’s motions to dismiss, on two grounds:  (1) that secondary 

liability claims of aiding and abetting and conspiracy are not cognizable under the ATA, and (2) 

that the ATA’s “by reason of” element requires a showing of both but-for and proximate 

causation, and that Plaintiffs did not allege that but for Chiquita’s acts they would not have been 

injured.  (Chiquita’s Mot. for Reconsideration  (D.E. 627).)  In January 2015, the Court granted 

Chiquita’s motion for reconsideration with respect to Plaintiffs’ claims for secondary liability 

under the ATA, thus permitting only ATA claims for primary liability.  (Order & Op. 1, 14 (D.E. 
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692).)  The Court declined to reconsider its earlier ruling interpreting “by reason of” to require 

only proximate, not but-for, causation.  (Id. at 14.)   

Plaintiffs’ Post-Discovery Amendment of Their Complaints.  On February 17 and 

March 9, 2017, following the close of both fact and expert discovery, Plaintiffs amended their 

complaints to withdraw all allegations that Chiquita: provided weapons, ammunition or supplies 

to the FARC; paid the FARC between $20,000 and $100,000 per month; diverted ten percent of 

its subsidiary’s gross revenues to the FARC; placed false names and non-existent employees on 

its payroll to provide funds to regional FARC commanders; created dummy organizations to 

channel funds to the FARC or to mislead law enforcement and others; drew up fictitious or 

overvalued contracts to hide payments to the FARC; assisted the FARC in subverting or wresting 

control of labor unions; or received any help from the FARC whatsoever, by harassing 

competitors or otherwise.  (See generally Third Am. Compl.  (D.E. 1273); Second Consolidated 

Am. Compl. (D.E. 1287); see also Order & Op. 6-7 (D.E. 278) (summarizing the Julin Plaintiffs’ 

earlier allegations).)   

In short, there is now no allegation in any of the operative complaints that Chiquita 

collaborated with the FARC, gave the FARC anything other than money, or paid that money 

other than in response to threats of violence—threats that the FARC proceeded to act upon when 

payments were not made.   

In their operative amended complaint, the Julin Plaintiffs assert two causes of action:  

one for conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 2332(c) and another for material support in violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 2339A.  (Third Am. Compl. at 35-37 (D.E. 1273).)  Neither cause of action alleges 

that Chiquita committed an “act of international terrorism”; only the FARC is alleged to have 

done so.  (Id. ¶¶ 212, 221.)  The Pescatore Plaintiffs assert only one cause of action in their 
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operative complaint for “international terrorism pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2333(a).”  (Second 

Consolidated Am. Compl. at 16 (D.E. 1287).)  Those plaintiffs likewise do not allege that 

Chiquita committed acts of “international terrorism.”  They only allege that the FARC did so, 

and that Chiquita purportedly “aided and abetted” or “conspired” in their commission.  (Id. ¶¶ 

87, 93, 95.) 

ARGUMENT 

 Summary judgment is appropriate where the “movant shows that there is no genuine 

dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 56(a).  Thus, Rule 56 “mandates the entry of summary judgment . . . against a party 

who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that 

party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”  Celotex Corp. v. 

Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).  As a result, Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment unless, 

with respect to each element of Plaintiffs’ claims, there is evidence on the basis of which a 

reasonable jury could find for the Plaintiffs.  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 

(1986). 

On January 6, 2015, this Court granted Chiquita’s motion for reconsideration and held 

that “Plaintiffs in this case may not recover on the theory of aiding and abetting violations of the 

ATA.”  (D.E. 692, at 10.)  The basis for the Court’s decision—that under Central Bank of 

Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164 (1994) and Rothstein v. UBS 

AG, 708 F.3d 82, 97 (2d Cir. 2013), Congress must explicitly provide for secondary-liability 

claims, and did not do so in the ATA—also precludes other secondary-liability claims such as 

conspiracy.  See Linde v. Arab Bank, PLC, 944 F. Supp. 2d 215 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (concluding 

that the reasoning in Rothstein extends to conspiracy claims under the ATA).  Accordingly, the 
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only cognizable claim that Plaintiffs can assert and pursue is a claim that Chiquita is primarily 

liable under the ATA.  

The ATA imposes primary liability for injuries suffered “by reason of an act of 

international terrorism.”  18 U.S.C. § 2333(a).  “International terrorism” is statutorily defined to 

mean activities that meet each of three separate elements:  they (1) involve “violent acts or acts 

dangerous to human life” in violation of U.S. criminal laws, 18 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(A); that (2) 

“appear to be intended” to intimidate or coerce a civilian population, or to affect or influence the 

conduct or policy of a government, id. § 2331(1)(B); and that (3) “occur primarily outside the 

territorial jurisdiction of the United States,” id. § 2331(C).    

Thus, to avoid summary judgment against them, Plaintiffs must (i) allege, and (ii) point 

to admissible evidence on the basis of which a reasonably jury could find, that Chiquita 

committed acts meeting all three of these elements.  See, e.g., D.E. 692, at 10; Rothstein v. UBS 

AG, 708 F.3d 82, 98 (2d Cir. 2013); Owens v. BNP Paribas S.A., __ F. Supp. 3d __, 2017 WL 

394483, at *4 (D.D.C. Jan. 27, 2017).  Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment because 

Plaintiffs do neither.   

First, their newly-amended complaints assert only secondary-liability causes of action.  

Neither the Julin nor Pescatore complaints so much as alleges that Chiquita itself engaged in an 

act of “international terrorism,” and neither complaint even claims that Chiquita is primarily 

liable under Section 2333(a).   

Second, even had Plaintiffs asserted a claim that Chiquita was primarily liable under 

Section 2333(a), the evidence would prevent Plaintiffs from making a showing sufficient to meet 

their burden on three core issues:  (i) whether Chiquita’s conduct constitutes “international 

Case 0:08-md-01916-KAM   Document 1329   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/03/2017   Page 28 of 47



   
 

23 
 

terrorism” under the ATA; (ii) whether their injuries were “by reason of” Chiquita’s conduct; 

and (iii) whether equitable tolling prevents dismissal of their claims as time-barred. 

I. PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED COMPLAINTS DO NOT EVEN ALLEGE THAT 
 CHIQUITA ENGAGED IN A PRIMARY VIOLATION OF SECTION 2333(a) 

Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment because neither complaint even alleges that 

Plaintiffs were injured by reason of an act of international terrorism committed by Chiquita.  

Instead, both complaints assert only secondary-liability claims. 

Pescatore.  The Pescatore Second Amended Complaint asserts a single count under 

Section 2333(a).  (D.E. 1287, at 16.)  But it does not allege that Plaintiffs were injured by reason 

of an act of international terrorism by Chiquita.  Instead, it alleges that Plaintiffs were injured 

“by reason of acts of international terrorism committed by FARC with the support of the 

Defendants” (id. ¶ 87 (emphasis added)) and that Chiquita “conspired with FARC and otherwise 

aided and abetted its acts of international terrorism.”  (Id. ¶ 93.)   

Accordingly, with respect to the key second component of the definition of an act of 

international terrorism—that the act “appear to be intended” to intimidate or coerce a civilian 

population, or to affect or influence the conduct or policy of a government, id. § 2331(1)(B)—the 

complaint alleges only that the FARC’s activities satisfied those elements.  (Id. ¶ 89.)  The 

complaint makes no such allegation against Chiquita; instead it alleges that “[t]he material 

support that the Defendants knowingly provided FARC substantially facilitated FARC’s acts of 

terrorism which caused Plaintiffs’ injuries.”  (Id. ¶ 91 (emphasis added).)  Because the Pescatore 

complaint does not allege an injury by reason of an act of international terrorism committed by 

Chiquita, Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment. 

Julin.  The Julin Third Amended Complaint does not include prior Count One, an aiding 

and abetting claim.  It begins with Count Two, which alleges a conspiracy claim.  Like the sole 
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cause of action in Pescatore, this count alleges that (i) the Plaintiffs were injured “by reason of 

acts of international terrorism committed by FARC” (D.E. 1273, ¶ 212); (ii) “FARC’s acts” were 

intended to intimidate or coerce the civilian population and influence the policy of the 

government (id. ¶ 213); and (iii) “[b]y conspiring to act with FARC . . . Chiquita is liable” under 

the ATA.  (Id. ¶ 219.)  Because this cause of action does not allege that Plaintiffs were injured by 

reason of an act of international terrorism by Chiquita, Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment 

on this count. 

The other count in the Julin complaint, Count Three, also does not allege that Plaintiffs 

were injured by reason of an act of international terrorism by Chiquita.  Instead, it alleges that by 

“providing material support to FARC, Chiquita assisted FARC in the preparation and carrying 

out of numerous acts of international terrorism.”  (Id. ¶ 221.)  Because this cause of action also 

does not allege that Plaintiffs were injured by reason of an act of international terrorism 

committed by Chiquita, Chiquita is entitled to summary judgment on this count as well. 

II. EVEN HAD THEY ALLEGED IT, PLAINTIFFS COULD NOT ESTABLISH 
THAT CHIQUITA’S CONDUCT CONSTITUTED “AN ACT OF 
INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM” 

 The reason that the newly-amended complaints do not allege that Plaintiffs were injured 

“by reason of an act of international terrorism” committed by Chiquita—which is the only basis 

on which Chiquita can be held liable under the ATA—is obvious.  There is no evidence through 

which Plaintiffs could satisfy the first two elements of the statutory definition of “international 

terrorism.”  First, there is no evidence showing that Banadex’s payments to the FARC were 

anything other than extorted—an instance of paying the vacuna, like so many others in Colombia 

did at the time.  Paying the vacuna, which was understood to result from victimization by the 

FARC, cannot as a matter of law “appear[] to be intended” to intimidate or coerce anybody or to 

influence government conduct or policy.  18 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(B).  Second, and likewise, such 
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payments do not constitute a violent or dangerous act in violation of U.S. criminal law.  Id. § 

2331(1)(A).   

 Capitulating to the FARC’s Extortion Demands Does Not Appear to Be A.
Intended to Intimidate or Coerce a Civilian Population, or to Influence 
Government Conduct 

 The civil provisions of the ATA narrowly impose civil liability for “terrorist” acts,  i.e., 

those that “appear to be intended” to intimidate or coerce a civilian population, or to influence 

government conduct or policy.  18 U.S.C. § 2331(1)(B); see id. § 2333(a).  The “appear to be 

intended” criterion “must be analyzed ‘as a matter of external appearance’ and not as a matter of 

subjective intent.”  Stansell v. BGP, Inc., 2011 WL 1296881, at *9 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 31, 2011) 

(quoting Boim v. Holy Land Found. (Boim III), 549 F.3d 685, 699 (7th Cir. 2008) (en banc)).  

Under this objective standard, while voluntary donations or provision of services to terrorists for 

the purpose of advancing their goals have been found to carry the appearance of a terrorist intent, 

see, e.g., Boim III, 549 F.3d at 694; Wultz v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 755 F. Supp. 2d 1, 48-49 

(D.D.C. 2010), payments in response to extortion demands have specifically been found to lack 

the appearance of a terrorist intent as a matter of law.  Stansell, 2011 WL 1296881, at *9. 

 In Stansell, defendants were looking for oil in Colombia when they paid the FARC “to 

conduct [their] oil exploration activities without fear of terrorist acts.”  2011 WL 1296881, at *2, 

*9.  The clear implication was that failure to make the payments risked attacks against the 

defendants by the FARC.  See id.  The court concluded on a motion to dismiss that such 

payments “would not lead an objective observer to conclude Defendants intended to achieve any 

one” of the terrorist objectives set forth in the second prong of the ATA’s definition of 

“international terrorism.”  Id. at *9. 

 Stansell is directly on point.  Although this Court denied Chiquita’s motions to dismiss 

here on the basis of allegations in the original Julin and Pescatore complaints suggesting that 
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there was a collusive relationship between the FARC and Chiquita, discovery has now shown 

those allegations to be false.  The evidence shows only that Chiquita authorized its subsidiary 

Banadex to pay the FARC to prevent violent retaliation—just like the defendant in Stansell and 

just like thousands of others in Colombia who were victims of the FARC’s extortive demands.  

(SOMF ¶¶ 52-53, 62, 65, 71-72, 76-77.)  Because there is no evidence that Chiquita did anything 

for the FARC other than pay the vacuna, which Plaintiffs acknowledge was a widespread 

phenomenon in Colombia at the time, there is no evidence upon which to conclude that the 

payments had the objective appearance of an intent to intimidate or coerce.  See Boim III, 549 

F.3d at 699 (stating that even voluntary medical assistance provided to a terrorist on the 

battlefield—assistance that would directly enable him to resume his terrorist activities—would 

not constitute an act of international terrorism because it would lack an objective appearance that 

the provider of the assistance intended to intended to intimidate or coerce); Brill v. Chevron 

Corp., 2017 WL 76894, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 9, 2017) (dismissing ATA claims for plaintiffs’ 

failure to meet the “objective appearance” element). 

 No court has held that the punitive, treble damages liability of the ATA extends to  

payments made in response to demands by notorious extortionists under threat of violence.  If it 

did, the ATA would likewise create the prospect of liability for those that paid the FARC in an 

effort to free kidnapping victims, as Plaintiff NTM did here.  Simply put, Congress enacted the 

civil provisions of the ATA to ensure that American victims of terrorist attacks abroad could sue 

the terrorists and their collaborators, not other victims of the same terrorists.3 

                                                 
3 E.g., H.R. Rep. No. 102-1040 at 5 (1992) (1992) (“In order to facilitate civil actions against . . . 
terrorists [such as those who committed the attack on the Achille Lauro in 1985] the Committee 
recommends H.R. 2222.”) (emphasis added); 138 Cong. Rec. S17254 (daily ed. Oct. 7, 1992) 
(statement of Sen. Grassley, principal sponsor of the civil provisions of the ATA)(“American 
victims will be able to bring a claim against a terrorist group for money damages.” )(emphasis 
added).  
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 Capitulating to the FARC’s Extortion Demands Did Not Constitute Violent B.
Acts or Acts Dangerous to Human Life in Violation of U.S. Criminal Laws 

 Plaintiffs similarly lack any evidence to show that Chiquita’s actions constituted violent 

acts or acts dangerous to human life in violation of U.S. criminal law―a second statutory 

element of the definition of “international terrorism.”  18 U.S.C. §  2331(1)(A).  Insofar as 

Plaintiffs mean to claim that the payments to the FARC satisfied this element because they 

constituted (1) criminal “material support” in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A, or (2) criminal 

conspiracy to murder Americans abroad in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332(b), the facts do not 

establish the elements of either of those violations.  (See Third Am. Complaint ¶¶ 212-223 (D.E. 

1273); Second Consolidated Am. Compl. ¶¶ 86-96 (D.E. 1287).)   

1. Chiquita Did Not Provide “Material Support” in Violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 2339A 

 Section 2339A makes it a crime to “provide[] material support or resources . . . knowing 

or intending that they are to be used in preparation for, or in carrying out” one of several 

enumerated crimes.  18 U.S.C. § 2339A.  Under this provision, general knowledge that the 

FARC was violent and targeted people for kidnapping is not sufficient.  If it were, Plaintiff NTM 

would have violated Section 2339A when it paid thousands of dollars to the FARC in an effort to 

secure the release of the three missionaries kidnapped in Panama.  (SOFM ¶¶ 28-29.))  Instead, 

the statute requires specific knowledge that the “material support” would—not just might—be 

used to kill or injure an American abroad.4   

                                                 
4 E.g., Estate of Parsons v. Palestinian Auth., 651 F.3d 118, 132 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (LeCraft 
Henderson, J., concurring & dissenting in part) (“[Plaintiffs] failed to make a showing sufficient 
to establish an essential element of their claim—that the PA, assuming it provided material 
support, acted with knowledge . . . that its support would aid the killing of a U.S. national.” 
(emphasis added)); United States v. Hassoun, 476 F.3d 1181, 1188 (11th Cir. 2007) (“To meet its 
burden under § 2339A, the Government must at least prove that the defendants provided material 
support or resources knowing that they be used in preparation for the [crime].”) (emphasis in 
original). 
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Even if there were evidence that the money paid by Chiquita was used “in preparation 

for, or in carrying out,” any crime—and there is not—there is no evidence that Chiquita knew 

that the FARC would kill or injure an American abroad as a result of Chiquita’s payments.  The 

unrebutted evidence shows that Chiquita executives believed that Banadex’s vacuna payments 

did not make possible any act of violence that would not have otherwise occurred; indeed, their 

consistent testimony was that the FARC appeared to have the resources to kill anyone it wanted, 

and that the only purpose (and effect) of Banadex’s vacuna payments was to save the lives of 

Banadex’s workers in Colombia, who would likely have been killed in retaliation if the payments 

were not made.  (Statement of Material Facts ¶ 76.)  Accordingly, Plaintiffs cannot establish that 

Chiquita provided material support in violation of Section 2339A.5    

2. Chiquita Did Not Conspire to Murder or Injure Americans Abroad in 
Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332 

 Plaintiffs also cannot establish that Chiquita conspired to murder or injure an American 

abroad under Section 2332.  Section 2332 requires proof that the defendant “(1) knew about the 

aims and objectives of the [alleged] criminal conspirac[y], (2) agreed to the essence of these 

objectives, and (3) performed acts . . . intended to further these objectives.”  In re Terrorist 

                                                 
5 In all events, no payment made prior to the statute’s enactment on September 13, 1994, can 
violate Section 2339A; as multiple courts have held, there can be no violation of Section 2339A 
or similar criminal provisions prior to their enactment.  See, e.g., Boim III, 549 F.3d at 691 
(reversing judgment against a defendant who had supported HAMAS prior to Section 2339A’s 
enactment); Owens, 2017 WL 394483, at *9 (“to the extent that plaintiffs raise a claim for 
primary liability based on an underlying violation of § 2339C, this claim is also dismissed, as the 
enactment of § 2339C in 2002 post-dates the relevant conduct here”).  Banadex first complied 
with a FARC demand in 1989—five years before Section 2339A became law on September 13, 
1994.  (Statement of Material Facts ¶ 64.)  By September 1994, the FARC had allegedly 
kidnapped the five Julin missionaries many months earlier.  (Third Am. Compl. ¶¶ 149, 156 
(D.E. 1273).)  No liability may attach pursuant to Section 2339A for those kidnappings.  See, 
e.g., Boim III, 549 F.3d at 691.  Any claim based on “material support” must be dismissed on this 
basis alone. 
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Bombings of U.S. Embassies in E. Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 114 (2d Cir. 2008); see also Estate of 

Parsons v. Palestinian Authority, 715 F. Supp. 2d 27 (D.D.C. 2010).  Plaintiffs must show that 

the alleged conspirators “agreed on the essence of the underlying illegal objective[s] and the kind 

of criminal conduct in fact contemplated.”  In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in E. 

Africa, 552 F.3d  at 113 (citation, internal quotation marks, and ellipsis omitted).  Since Section 

2332 prohibits the murder or injury of an American citizen abroad, that must be the “criminal 

conduct” contemplated by the conspiracy.  See Estate of Parsons, 715 F. Supp 2d at 33. 

 There is not even a scintilla of evidence suggesting that Chiquita entered into any kind of  

agreement with the FARC, let alone one aimed at furthering that group’s murder or injury of 

Americans in Colombia.  To suggest that Chiquita and the FARC agreed on the FARC’s criminal 

objectives is nonsensical:  the FARC was ideologically opposed to the presence in Colombia of 

U.S. corporations such as Chiquita (SOMF ¶ 2), and there is no evidence indicating that Chiquita 

sought or agreed to “kill[ ] a national of the United States,” 18 U.S.C. § 2332.  The evidence also 

establishes that the FARC not only threatened, but in fact attacked, Banadex, including shooting 

Banadex employees and bombing its facilities.  (SOMF ¶¶ 53, 65, 72, 75-.)  In short, there is no 

evidence on the basis of which any rational jury could find that Chiquita entered into a criminal 

conspiracy with the FARC in violation of Section 2332.  

 Capitulating to the FARC’s Extortion Demands Did Not Meet the Minimum C.
Mens Rea Standard of Recklessness, Which Some Courts Have Required to 
Justify the Punitive Civil Liability of the ATA 

 Because the civil provisions of the ATA impose treble damages, several courts have held 

that—in addition to proof that the defendant met the specific scienter requirement of the 

underlying criminal act constituting “international terrorism”—the ATA requires proof that the 

defendant acted with a general mens rea of, at a minimum, reckless disregard for the safety of 
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others  See, e.g., Owens, 2017 WL 394483, at *4; Boim III, 594 F.3d at 693-94 (concluding that a 

violation of Section 2333 requires reckless conduct, carried out without justification). 

 There is no evidence that Chiquita acted with reckless disregard for the safety of others 

and without justification.  Instead, the unrebutted evidence shows that Chiquita acted out of 

regard for the safety of its employees, and in the genuine belief that failure to accede to the 

FARC’s demands would increase the risk to those employees.  It is undisputed that when 

Chiquita executives learned of the FARC’s first extortion demand, they consulted security 

experts to determine the most appropriate course of action.  (SOMF ¶¶ 61, 71.)  Those experts 

confirmed that the FARC posed a serious threat to employees.  (Id.)  They assessed various 

options and recommended that Banadex should comply with credible guerrilla demands to 

prevent violent retaliation and that it should do so using procedures that would both minimize 

safety risks and the amounts paid.  (Id.; see also Control Risks Memorandum (CBI-ATA-

02304211) (Ex. 64 to SOMF))  Under these circumstances, it would have been reckless to refuse 

those demands and place Banadex’s employees at serious risk of kidnapping and harm as a 

result.  In reaching this decision, Chiquita acted like thousands of others in Colombia who faced 

the same dilemma in the late 1980s and in the 1990s.  (SOMF ¶ 10.) 

 These facts are in stark contrast to those of cases where the defendant’s acts were found 

to be reckless.  In Boim III, for example, the defendant—an Islamic charity— made voluntary 

donations to Hamas terrorists purportedly intending to support their non-violent activities.  594 

F.3d at 694.  The defendant there knew that Hamas engaged in violent activities but decided to 

raise funds in support of that organization anyway.  See id. at 688, 693-94.  Here, by contrast, 

Chiquita was not a FARC donor or fundraiser, and did not intend to support any of that group’s 
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activities—Chiquita was the parent of a Colombian company that was extorted by the FARC and 

that gave in to that group’s demands to prevent violence.  (SOMF ¶¶ 10-11, 52-77.)6 

III. Plaintiffs’ Injuries Were Not “By Reason of” Chiquita’s Conduct 

A primary liability claim would also require Plaintiffs to establish that their injuries were 

“by reason of” Chiquita’s acts.  18 U.S.C. § 2333(a).  “By reason of” has been interpreted as 

“requir[ing] a showing that the defendant’s violation not only was a ‘but for’ cause of his injury, 

but was the proximate cause as well.”  Rothstein, 708 F.3d at 95 (quoting Holmes v. Sec. Inv. 

Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258 (1992) and “reach[ing] the same conclusion with respect to the 

ATA”).  An act is the but-for cause of an injury if the injury would not have occurred absent the 

act.  E.g., Burrage v. United States, 134 S.Ct. 881, 887-888 (2014).  An act is the proximate 

cause of an injury if the act was “a substantial factor in the sequence of responsible causation” 

leading to the injury, and the injury was “reasonably anticipated as a natural consequence” of the 

act.  E.g., Weiss v. Nat'l Westminster Bank PLC, 453 F. Supp. 2d 609, 631 (E.D.N.Y. 2006) 

(citing Lerner v. Fleet Bank, N.A., 318 F.3d 113, 123 (2d Cir. 2003)). 

There is no admissible evidence to establish either but-for or proximate cause.  Plaintiffs’ 

relatives were kidnapped many miles away from the banana-growing regions of Colombia; three 

of them were not even kidnapped in Colombia.  (SOMF ¶¶ 22, 24, 37.)  The “fronts” that 

extorted Banadex in the banana-growing regions were not the same ones believed to have carried 

out the kidnapping of Plaintiffs’ relatives.  (See SOMF ¶¶ 27, 44.)  As Plaintiffs’ own FARC 

experts concede, the FARC’s autonomous fronts were expected to carry out kidnappings using 

their own generated funds―not funds transferred from other FARC units.  (SOMF ¶ 9; Marks 

                                                 
6 To the extent the Pescatore Plaintiffs assert that Chiquita carried out “international terrorism” 
by violating criminal reckless-endangerment and negligence provisions under state law (see 
Consolidated Am. Compl. 87-88 (D.E. 447)), their claims fail for the same reasons. 
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Dep. 195:10-12 (Ex. 14 to SOMF).)  There is no evidence that the FARC fronts that extorted 

Banadex ever shared any funds with the fronts believed to have kidnapped and killed the 

decedents here.   

And even if FARC fronts did share money derived from extortion with each other, there 

is no evidence that the amounts paid by Chiquita augmented the FARC’s ability to engage in any 

violent acts.  The FARC indisputably was an extraordinarily wealthy organization, with income 

exceeding $100 million per year.  (SOMF ¶ 5 .)  Banadex’s extortion payments to the FARC, 

which averaged about $32,000 per year from 1989 to 1996, amounted to a few hundredths of a 

percent of the FARC’s overall resources.  (See id.; see Chalk Dep. 169:22-24 (Ex. 4 to SOFM) 

(accepting that Banadex’s payments were “a small fraction of the FARC’s estimated income 

from all sources”).) 

 Plaintiffs Concede that They Cannot Establish that But For Causation A.

While recognizing that the Court has previously held otherwise (D.E. 278, at 27; D.E. 

692, at 10, 14), Chiquita respectfully submits that the ATA does require but-for causation.   

The statutory phrase “by reason of” compels a showing of but-for causation because the 

same phrase has long been interpreted to require such a showing and Congress is presumed to 

have adopted the same meaning when it enacted Section 2333(a).  See Rothstein, 708 F.3d at 95; 

see also Burrage, 134 S. Ct. at 889 (“We have … observed that … ‘the phrase, “by reason of,” 

requires at least a showing of “but for” causation.’”).  That the unique facts of this case would 

make it impossible for Plaintiffs to establish this core element is no argument for reading away 

what the plain text of the statute requires.  Instead of suggesting that Congress must have meant 

something different than what the plain text of the statute indicates, Plaintiffs’ inability to show 

but-for causation further confirms that Congress did not intend to extend liability so broadly as to 

sweep American victims of the FARC’s extortion. 
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In refusing to reconsider its “prior ruling on the issue of causation,” this Court cited 

Paroline v. United States, 134 S. Ct. 1710 (2014).  (Order & Op. 13-14 (D.E. 692).)  Even if 

Paroline were controlling—and it is not (see D.E. 673)—it limited restitution under its less 

stringent alternative to the but-for test to the “amount that comports with the defendant’s relative 

role in the causal process that underlies the victim’s general losses.”  134 S. Ct. at 1727.  

Accordingly, to the extent that the Court allows any of Plaintiffs’ claims to go forward, the Court 

should limit Plaintiffs’ recovery to that which comports with Chiquita’s proportional 

contribution to Plaintiffs’ injuries, relative to the resources of the FARC as a whole.  

 There Is No Evidence to Show that Banadex’s Extortion Payments Were the B.
Proximate Cause of Plaintiffs’ Injuries 

The “relative amounts of contributions and intentions” of the defendant are relevant to 

whether those contributions were a “substantial factor in the sequence of responsible causation” 

leading to plaintiffs’ injuries, which is necessary to establish proximate cause.  Gill v. Arab 

Bank, PLC, 893 F. Supp. 2d 474, 507 (E.D.N.Y. 2012); Rothstein, 708 F.3d at 91 (citing Lerner 

v. Fleet Bank, N.A., 318 F.3d 113, 123 (2d Cir. 2003)).  There is no such evidence here.  First, 

there is no evidence that the FARC fronts that extorted Banadex ever shared any funds with the 

separate fronts suspected of kidnapping Plaintiffs’ relatives.  That alone would be fatal to 

Plaintiffs’ claims; they cannot sidestep the fact that the groups that perpetrated the torts here 

were separate from those that Banadex paid, merely by noting that both operated under the 

umbrella of the FARC.   

Moreover, even assuming that those fronts overlapped or shared some of the extortion 

proceeds derived from Banadex in the banana-growing regions of Colombia, there is no evidence 

that the “relative amounts” that the FARC extorted from Banadex prior to each kidnapping 

amounted to more than a tiny fraction of the FARC’s overall resources.  (See SOMF ¶¶ 5, 77.)  
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Plaintiffs’ own FARC experts conceded as much.  (Chalk Dep. 169:22-24 (Ex. 4 to SOMF).)  It 

is likewise undisputed that Chiquita did not intend anyone to be kidnapped or harmed.  (E.g., 

SOMF ¶¶ 53-63, 76.)  Under these circumstances, it cannot reasonably be said that Banadex’s 

extortion payments were a “substantial factor in the sequence of responsible causation” leading 

to the kidnapping of Plaintiffs’ relatives. 

Plaintiffs likewise cannot “demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it was 

reasonably foreseeable that Defendants’ actions would cause the resulting injuries.”  Sokolow v. 

Palestine Liberation Org., 60 F. Supp. 3d 509, 515 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (emphasis added).  “An act 

is ‘foreseeable’ when it is reasonably expected to occur, ‘not merely what might occur.’”  

Weaver v. PACCAR, Inc., 614 F. App’x 991, 993 (11th Cir. 2015) (emphasis added).   

“[L]ocation can play a critical role in the foreseeability of an attack.”  Banosmoreno v. Walgreen 

Co., 299 F. App’x 912, 914 (11th Cir. 2008). 

There is no evidence showing that it was reasonably foreseeable that Banadex’s extortion 

payments would—not just might—cause the FARC to kidnap and murder Plaintiffs’ relatives, or 

that their kidnapping and murder was the “reasonably anticipated [] natural consequence” of 

those payments.  Neither Plaintiffs nor their relatives had any connection whatsoever to Chiquita 

or Banadex.  (SOMF ¶ 16.)  Plaintiffs’ relatives were kidnapped nowhere near the banana-

growing regions of Colombia.  (Id. ¶¶ 22, 24, 37.)  In fact, three of them were not even 

kidnapped in Colombia:  they were kidnapped in Panama in January 1993.  (Id. ¶ 21.)  Plaintiffs 

concede or cannot dispute that, prior to January 1993, no reason existed to foresee that the FARC 

would cross Colombia’s borders to kidnap people abroad.7  Moreover, it is undisputed that the 

                                                 
7 Patricia Labutes Dep. 86 (Ex. 83 to SOMF) (“Q. Were you ever concerned about guerillas 
coming to Pucuro? A. No”); Tania Rich Dep. 41(Ex. 81 to SOMF)  (“Q. So before that time 
period, you didn’t believe that Pucuro was dangerous? A. Right.”); Nancy Hamm Dep. 84 (Ex. 
82 to SOMF)  (“So I, at the time, didn’t feel Colombia had anything to do with us.”); Alabama 
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vast majority of ransom kidnappings in Colombia have targeted Colombians, not Americans, and 

that most hostages have been released after a ransom was paid.  (SOMF ¶ 7.)   

On this record, no reasonable jury could conclude that it was “reasonably foreseeable or 

anticipated” that extortion payments in the banana-growing regions of Colombia would cause 

Americans found in other remote areas of Colombia and Panama to be kidnapped and killed in 

captivity by other, separate factions of the FARC. 

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED 

 The statute of limitations on Plaintiffs’ claims is ten years.  18 U.S.C. § 2335(a).  

Plaintiffs commenced these cases more than ten years after suffering their injuries and knowing 

who perpetrated them, so their remaining ATA claims are time-barred unless they were equitably 

tolled.  This Court refused to dismiss those claims as time-barred on the pleadings based on 

allegations that Chiquita “fraudulently concealed” Banadex’s payments to the FARC. (D.E. 278, 

at 14-15; D.E. 517, at 8-10.)  Discovery has shown those allegations to be unsupported and false.  

There is no evidence that Plaintiffs exercised the diligence necessary to invoke equitable tolling, 

and no evidence that Chiquita fraudulently concealed Banadex’s extortion payments.  Because 

there is no genuine issue of material fact about Plaintiffs’ claims being time-barred, they must be 

dismissed.  See Arrington v. Walgreen Co., 416 F. App’x 846, 849 (11th Cir. 2011). 

 The ATA’s Ten-Year Limitations Period Expired Before Plaintiffs A.
Commenced These Lawsuits 

 An ATA lawsuit must be commenced “within 10 years after the date the cause of action 

accrued.”  18 U.S.C. § 2335(a).  This Court has yet to decide when Plaintiffs’ claims “accrued” 

                                                                                                                                                             
Baptist Article: Waiting in Limbo  (Apr. 23, 1998) (JULIN007105, at JULIN007105) (Ex. 100 to 
SOMF) (quoting Plaintiff Patti Labutes as saying that “the missionaries had nothing to fear in the 
Panamanian village in the jungle, 12 miles north of the border” because “the aim of the 
Colombian guerrillas was to overthrow their country’s Government”); Julin Pls.’ Admission No. 
3 (Ex. 1 to SOMF). 
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(D.E. 278, at 16; D.E. 517, at 8), but every court that has considered the issue has held that the 

ATA statute of limitations begins to run from the date of the injury (e.g., the date when the 

victim was injured or killed by a terrorist).  See Abecassis v. Wyatt, 902 F. Supp. 2d 881, 896 

(S.D. Tex. 2012) (finding plaintiffs’ ATA claims accrued on the date that they were injured in 

the terrorist attack); Litle v. Arab Bank, PLC, 507 F. Supp. 2d 267, 274 (E.D.N.Y. 2007), vacated 

in part on other grounds sub nom. Linde v. Arab Bank, PLC, 950 F. Supp. 2d 459 (E.D.N.Y. 

2013) (same); Strauss v. Credit Lyonnais, S.A., No. CV-06-0702(CPS), 2007 WL 2296832, at *7 

(E.D.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2007) (same).  There is no reason to depart from these decisions.    

 Here, Plaintiffs’ relatives were kidnapped and killed between January 1993 and February 

1997.  Because Plaintiffs did not commence their suits until March 2008 or later, Plaintiffs’ ATA 

claims are time-barred absent tolling.  The Court has already held that statutory tolling does not 

apply (D.E. 278, at 11).  As explained below, there is no evidence on the basis of which 

equitable tolling could apply. 

 There Is No Evidence to Support Equitable Tolling Based on a Theory of B.
Fraudulent Concealment 

 As this Court already has recognized, equitable tolling is an “extraordinary remedy” that 

requires Plaintiffs to establish that: “(1) the defendant wrongfully concealed material facts 

relating to its wrongdoing; (2) the concealment prevented plaintiffs’ discovery of the nature of 

the claim within the limitations period; and (3) the plaintiffs exercised due diligence in pursuing 

the discovery of the claim during the period they seek to have tolled.”  (D.E. 278, at 14 

(emphasis added).)  “If a plaintiff with an otherwise time-barred claim has not presented 

sufficient evidence of even one of the three elements, summary judgment may be entered for the 

defendant.”  Cunningham v. M & T Bank Corp., 814 F.3d 156, 164 (3d Cir. 2016), as amended 

(Feb. 24, 2016) (emphasis added).   
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 There is insufficient evidence for Plaintiffs to meet the elements of the “extraordinary 

remedy” of equitable tolling. 

1. Plaintiffs Conceded Their Failure to Exercise Due Diligence 

 As the Court already explained, equitable tolling is “not intended for those who sleep on 

their rights” and is therefore only “appropriate where a plaintiff ‘remain[s] in the dark without 

any fault or want of diligence or care on his part.’”  (D.E. 278, at 14 (quoting Covey v. Arkansas 

River Co., 865 F.2d 660, 662 (5th Cir. 1989) and In re Olsen, 36 F.3d 71, 73 (9th Cir. 1994)); see 

also Washington v. LaSalle Bank Nat. Ass’n, 817 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1351 (S.D. Fla. 2011) 

(dismissing plaintiff’s claim on summary judgment for failure to exercise due diligence).   

 Plaintiffs conceded during discovery that they did not exercise any diligence.  They knew 

that payments to the FARC were common.  And for equitable tolling purposes, “[a]ny fact that 

should excite [a plaintiff’s] suspicion is the same as actual knowledge of his entire claim.”  

Gilley v. Dunaway, 572 F. App’x 303, 307 (6th Cir. 2014) (internal quotation marks omitted); 

see also Hill v. Texaco, Inc., 825 F.2d 333, 335 (11th Cir. 1987) (“The standard for a discovered 

wrong is a minimal one: Any fact that should excite his suspicion is the same as actual 

knowledge of his entire claim.”).  Yet Plaintiffs never took any steps to learn who provided 

money to the FARC.  (SOMF ¶ 87 .)  They conducted no investigation into who might be 

responsible for the kidnapping and killing of their relatives aside from the kidnappers and killers 

themselves.  (Id.)  They only commenced their lawsuits after their lawyers in this case contacted 

them and suggested that they sue Chiquita.  (Id. ¶ 88.)  A plaintiff that, as Plaintiffs here, does 

“not diligently pursue [his or her] claims” and only “elect[s] to pursue litigation after [being] 

pursued by lawyers” is not entitled to equitable tolling.  See, e.g., Hill v. Flagstar Bank, No. 12-

2770, 2014 WL 2892397, at *4 (E.D. Pa. June 26, 2014).  
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 Plaintiffs’ lack of diligence alone defeats their attempt to toll the limitations period under 

equitable principles.  See Cunningham, 814 F.3d at 161. 

2. Chiquita Did Not Wrongfully Conceal the Facts From Plaintiffs   

 Even if Plaintiffs had exercised the requisite due diligence for equitable tolling, they 

would still bear the burden of establishing that Chiquita wrongfully concealed Banadex’s 

extortion payments to the FARC.  Plaintiffs cannot satisfy this burden merely by showing that 

Chiquita did not publicly announce its payments.  Instead, they must show that Chiquita either (i) 

“[had] a fiduciary responsibility to make [a] disclosure” it did not make, Hill, 825 F.3d at 335, 

n.2, or (ii) engaged in “affirmative acts or representations which [were] calculated to . . . prevent 

the discovery of the cause of action,” In re Int’l Admin. Servs. Inc., 408 F.3d 689, 701 (11th Cir. 

2005) (emphasis added).8   

Plaintiffs cannot establish either of these elements.  First, Chiquita had no fiduciary 

relationship with Plaintiffs, and there is no evidence that Chiquita had any obligation 

affirmatively to disclose its subsidiary’s extortion payments.  (SOMF ¶¶ 16, 80.)   

Second, Chiquita also took no affirmative acts and made no representations “calculated to 

. . . prevent” Plaintiffs from discovering their cause of action against Chiquita.  In re Int’l Admin. 

Servs. Inc., 408 F.3d at 701.  While Chiquita adopted internal accounting procedures to limit the 

number of Colombian employees with knowledge of the extortion payments, there is no evidence 

that these procedures were in any way calculated or intended to mislead or conceal facts from 

                                                 
8 See also, e.g., Cunningham, 814 F.3d at 161 (noting that fraudulent concealment requires “the 
defendant [to] actively mislead the plaintiff”) (emphasis added);  Estate of Abdullah ex rel. 
Carswell v. Arena, 601 F. App’x 389, 394 (6th Cir. 2015) (defining “wrongful concealment” as a 
“a fraudulent act or statement by the defendant intended to conceal the existence of a cause of 
action from the plaintiff”) (emphasis added);  Litle, 507 F. Supp. 2d at 277 (“[T]he defendant 
must have engaged in some misleading, deceptive or otherwise contrived action or scheme, in 
the course of committing the wrong, that [was] designed to mask the cause of action.”) (internal 
quotations marks omitted) (emphasis added). 
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plaintiffs or to prevent lawsuits.  (See SOMF ¶¶ 78-84.)  Unrebutted evidence establishes beyond 

doubt that those procedures were implemented to prevent rival guerilla groups in Colombia from 

learning about extortion payments made to their enemies and minimize the risk of violent 

retaliation.  (Id. ¶ 79.)  Information about the payments was disclosed to those who—by virtue of 

their role or otherwise—needed to know about them, including Chiquita’s audit and legal 

departments, the Audit Committee of its Board of Directors, and its independent auditor, Ernst & 

Young (“E&Y”).  (Id. ¶ 81.)  Critically, as Plaintiffs’ own purported accounting expert admitted 

at his deposition, (i) the public had no right or ability to inspect Banadex’s local books and 

records, where the coding system was implemented, and (ii) the manner in which Banadex 

recorded the payments on its local books did not affect how the payments were classified on 

Chiquita’s consolidated public financial statements.  (Id. ¶ 80 (citing Argiz Dep.).)  In short, the 

manner in which Chiquita recorded the payments in no way affected whether they were disclosed 

to Plaintiffs. 

 Moreover, there is no evidence showing that Banadex’s extortion payments were 

concealed to avoid government detection or because the payments were considered to be illegal.  

(See id. ¶ 13, 67-69, 71, 73-75, 79.)  The Company sought legal advice throughout the years and 

confirmed its understanding that the payments were legal.  (Id. ¶¶  60, 70.)  And, in the late 

1990s, Chiquita fully disclosed the payments to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

and to the Department of Justice, and these entities took no action.  (Id. ¶¶  83-85.)  Because 

Chiquita did not “actively mislead” Plaintiffs through “affirmative acts” meant to prevent them 

from discovering their claims against the Company, Plaintiffs’ claims must be dismissed as time-

barred.  In re Int’l Admin. Servs. Inc., 408 F.3d at 701; Cunningham, 814 F.3d at 161. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant summary judgment in Chiquita’s favor 

and dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims. 
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